THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court  
APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

**Jun 10 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Innovative Waste Management, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, Crest Energy Partners L.P.,  
Dunhill Products GP, LLC, Dunhill Products L.P., Henry Wuertz,  
and Edward H. Girardeau, Defendants,

Of Whom Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, Crest Energy Partners  
L.P., Dunhill Products L.P., Dunhill Products GP, LLC, and Henry  
Wuertz are the Appellants.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001045

---

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

---

David B. Marvel  
Marvel Et Al., LLC  
PO Box 22734  
Charleston, SC 29413

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Appellants had waived appellate review of the Circuit Court's interlocutory discovery orders?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the Circuit Court's was within its discretion to strike Petitioner's Answers and Counterclaims under Rule 37(b), SCRCP, when
  - a. the underlying order at issue was patently defective and could not have been violated by Appellants;
  - b. the Order striking Appellants' pleadings was not only without support, it was directly contradicted by the record; and
  - c. less punitive sanctions were clearly available to cure the discovery abuse alleged.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal concerns a series of three discovery orders issued by the circuit court on June 18, 2019, August 1, 2019, and October 1, 2019. The last Order granted a Motion for Sanctions, Striking the Answers and Counterclaims of all Appellants, pursuant to Ryle 37(b)(2)(C).

The case arises from a series of three petroleum industry trades involving Respondent Innovative Waste Management (“IWM”) and Appellant Crest Energy Partners, L.P., formerly known as Dunhill Products, L.P. (“Crest”). The first transaction involved a shipment of petroleum slops from Montreal, Quebec to St. Charles, Louisiana in December 2009. The second and third transactions involved product that IWM had brokered from certain Shell Oil subsidiaries to Crest, in March and April 2010, from facilities in Mobile, Alabama, and St. Rose, Louisiana. IWM claims that Crest owes IWM approximately \$1,050,000 from the 2010 transactions. IWM also claims that Girardeau, Bridge, Crest, and Crest principal Henry Wuertz engaged in a fraudulent scheme to steal product, clients, and trade secrets.<sup>1</sup> From these allegations, IWM asserts thirteen separate causes of action. (Appx. 59-87). The Crest Defendants deny IWM’s claims outright in their Answers, and their Counterclaims assert that IWM owes Crest over \$300,000, after set-off.

IWM originally filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina on April 29, 2011. That case proceeded through discovery before it was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on May 10, 2012.<sup>2</sup> On May 11, 2012, IWM filed the instant

---

<sup>1</sup> The Complaint named two Crest entities and two Dunhill entities as defendants, along with the individual defendants. Well before the filing of this case, the Dunhill entities executed name changes to become the Crest entities. (Appx. p. 756). The undersigned represented all of the defendants below until March 2014 when Defendant Bridge, no longer employed by or with any other defendant, obtained new counsel, entered into a settlement with IWM, and was released. Defendant Girardeau remains a defendant below, is now represented by separate counsel, and is not a party to this appeal. The Crest entities and Wuertz are the Appellants, together referred to as the “Crest Defendants” herein. The defendants named below are collectively referred to as “defendants”.

<sup>2</sup> Innovative Waste Mgmt., Inc. v. Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, No. 2:11-CV-1023-RMG, 2012 WL 13005334 (D.S.C. May 10, 2012)

lawsuit in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas, based on the same facts previously alleged in federal court.

As discovery began in state court, defense counsel (including the undersigned) failed, through conflict and oversight, to respond in a timely fashion to certain Interrogatories and Request for Production that had been served by IWM's counsel on October 2, 2012. IWM filed its first Motion to Compel in State Court on January 31, 2013. (APPX. 206-209). The parties entered into an agreement on the Motion to Compel which was submitted as a proposed Consent Order. (APPX. 5-7). Thereafter, Defendants filed a Motion for Protective Order (APPX. 279-282), and Plaintiff filed an Amended Motion to Compel (APPX. 283-291), which was heard by The Hon. Edgar W. Dickson on April 1, 2013 (APPX. 111-151). The March 15, 2013 proposed Consent Order was signed by Judge Dickson on April 2, 2013 and filed on April 5, 2013 (APPX. 5-7).

While Judge Dickson's Order from the April 1, 2013 hearing was signed on June 3, 2013, it was not filed, and therefore not effective, until August 22, 2013 (APPX. 8-11). In the meantime, a dispute arose over the interpretation of Judge Dickson's rulings. Defendants filed a second Motion for Protective Order on August 21, 2013 (APPX. 328-330), and IWM Filed a Second Motion to Compel in response (APPX. 395-413). Although Judge Dickson had retained jurisdiction over the discovery issues in this case, those motions were heard by The Hon. Diane S. Goodstein.<sup>3</sup> Judge Goodstein's Order on the discovery motions was filed on October 3, 2013. (APPX. 12-14). Judge Goodstein's Order granting, in part, defendants Motion to Dismiss was filed November 18, 2013. (APPX. 15-19).

IWM waited nearly four months, until March 10, 2014, to file a Second Amended Complaint, without seeking further leave of court or seeking to set aside any default. The Second

---

<sup>3</sup> Judge Goodstein later designated the case complex and assigned it to The Hon. Maite Murphy. (APPX. 30-31).

Amended Complaint mostly restated the original causes of action. (APPX. 59-87). IWM then served certain out-of-state subpoenas on Margavio & Schmidt CPAs in New Orleans, and Wells Fargo Bank, in Houston, seeking detailed financial records of or relating to the Crest Defendants. (APPX. 542-549). Defendants filed a Motion to Quash those subpoenas on December 5, 2014, arguing that these issues had already been resolved by Judge Goodstein. (APPX. 540-541). On April 6, 2015, that motion was heard by The. Hon. Maite Murphy, who denied Defendants' Motion by an Order issued that same day. (APPX. 37-39). The case was subsequently dismissed, Judge Murphy denied IWM's motion to reinstate the case, and then denied IWM's Rule 59 Motion. IWM appealed, which ultimately resulted this Court's opinion in Innovative Waste Mgmt. Inc. v. Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, 423 S.C. 611, 815 S.E.2d 780 (Ct. App. 2018), aff'd as modified, 425 S.C. 568, 571, 824 S.E.2d 214 (2019). The case was remitted to the trial court on February 27, 2019.

Shortly after the case had been restored in the trial court, IWM served a second subpoena on Margavio & Schmidt. On April 17, 2019, Margavio & Schmidt filed a Motion to Quash that subpoena in Jefferson Parish, Louisiana, which was granted on June 10, 2019. (APPX. 604-605). IWM then filed a Third Motion to Compel in this case, seeking to compel the production of certified financial statements and also seeking to compel the Crest Defendants to execute releases for the Margavio & Schmidt and Wells Fargo documents. (APPX. 571-592).

The Third Motion to Compel was heard by Judge Murphy on June 5, 2019 and granted by Order filed June 18, 2019. (APPX. 41-43). The Crest Defendants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend on June 25, 2019 (APPX. 668-670) which was partially granted in part but mostly denied by Judge Murphy's Order of August 1, 2019 (APPX. 44-46). On August 30, 2019, undersigned counsel transmitted a letter to Judge Murphy detailing the effort and progress that had been made to comply

with her Orders, but also advising the court that the Crest Defendants wished to appeal certain aspects of her rulings, and also requesting that the court issue a finding of contempt so that the Orders would be immediately appealable (APPX. 755-757). In response, IWM filed a Motion for Sanctions. (APPX. 673-684) which was heard on September 23, 2019 (APPX. 177-205). On October 1, 2019, Judge Murphy issued an Order granting IWM's Motion for Sanctions and striking the Answers and Counterclaims of the Crest Defendants. (APPX. 47-58).

Appellants filed Notice of Appeal on October 10, 2019. Following oral argument, the Court of Appeals affirmed by way of an unpublished opinion issued March 29, 2023. Rehearing was denied on June 10, 2013, and this Appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of discovery is generally within the trial court's discretion, and a trial court ruling on discovery matters is reviewed for abuse of that discretion. A trial court's selection of a sanction is likewise usually a matter of discretion. Griffin Grading and Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (1999). Appellants bear the burden of establishing that the trial court abused that discretion. Clark v. Ross, 284 S.C. 543, 328 S.E.2d 91 (Ct.App.1985). In determining whether there has been an abuse of discretion all of the facts and circumstances must be evaluated. Edwards v. Ferguson, 254 S.C. 278, 283, 175 S.E.2d 224, 226 (1970).

The trial court must make an effort to impose reasonable discovery limits. The trial court abuses its discretion by ordering discovery that exceeds that permitted by the rules of procedure. Oncology & Hematology Assocs. of S.C., LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 387 S.C. 380, 388, 692 S.E.2d 920, 924 (2010). The trial court also will be found to have abused its discretion when a discovery ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. Fields v. Regional Medical Center Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 609 S.E.2d 506 (2005). If the trial court's conclusion reached was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, it amounts to an error of law and therefore an abuse of discretion. E.g., Dunn v. Dunn, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989); Halverson v. Yawn, 328 S.C. 618, 493 S.E.2d 883 (1997); Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp., 305 S.C. 187, 193, 407 S.E.2d 630, 633 (1991); Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

## **LAW AND ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that it was unable to review the circuit court's Orders relating to the ongoing discovery issue. The Court of Appeals should have fully reviewed the Orders under the appropriate standards, and held that the lower court's Order striking Appellants' Answers and Counterclaims pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2)(C) was an abuse of discretion. The circuit court failed to address the required factors when fashioning the sanction and the Crest Defendants had not, in fact, violated any proper Order of the circuit court. The prior Order that the Crest Defendants purportedly violated was likewise an abuse of discretion because it was based on errors of law and was an improper collateral review of two prior discovery Orders. As addressed further below, these Orders are unsupported by the record or the law, and therefore the Court of Appeals ruling affirming the trial court must be Reversed, the circuit court's Order granting sanctions must be vacated, and this case remanded for further proceedings.

### **I. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding that its Review was Limited to the October 1, 2019 Order, and Failed to Fully Review the Record**

Without question, discovery orders such as the June 18, 2019, and August 1, 2019 orders in the instant case “are interlocutory and are not immediately appealable because they do not, within the meaning of the appealability statute, involve the merits of the action or affect a substantial right.” Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 30–31, 659 S.E.2d 112, 122 (2008) (citing Hamm v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 312 S.C. 238, 241, 439 S.E.2d 852, 853 (1994); Wallace v. Interamerican Trust Co., 246 S.C. 563, 568–69, 144 S.E.2d 813, 816 (1965)). See also Lowndes Products, Inc. v. Brower, 262 S.C. 431, 205 S.E.2d 184 (1974).

However, South Carolina appellate courts have historically reviewed interlocutory orders when such orders are presented on appeal as companion issues to orders that are ordinarily immediately appealable. *See, e.g., Brown v. Cnty. of Berkeley*, 366 S.C. 354, 362, 622 S.E.2d 533, 538 (2005) (citing *Morris v. Anderson County*, 349 S.C. 607, 610, 564 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2002); *Pitts v. Jackson Nat'l Life Ins. Co.*, 352 S.C. 319, 338, 574 S.E.2d 502, 512 (Ct.App.2002)). After the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure replaced the Rules of Practice for the Circuit Courts, this Court applied this principal to a discovery order directed at a non-party, explicitly adopting existing procedure under the federal rules for the appeal and review of a discovery order, *Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. 580, 580, 347 S.E.2d 881, 881 (1986). The Court stated the procedure succinctly: one who is aggrieved by a discovery order “may either comply with the discovery order and waive any right to challenge it on appeal, or refuse to comply with the order and appeal after he is held in contempt for his failure to comply. *Id.* 347 S.E.2d at 881–82.

An example of this procedure is found in *Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 312 S.C. 532, 435 S.E.2d 877 (Ct. App. 1993) *rev'd* 317 S.C. 377, 379, 453 S.E.2d 880, 882 (1994). In that case, the defendant appealed a discovery order, which was dismissed as interlocutory. Following remittitur, the defendant continued its refusal to answer two requests for admissions, and the plaintiff moved for sanctions. Upon the defendant’s continued refusal to comply with the circuit court’s order, the defendant was held in contempt, sanctions were imposed, and the court deemed the Requests admitted. Upon a second appeal, the Court of Appeals rightly reviewed both the discovery order and the contempt/sanctions order, vacating both. On certiorari, the Supreme Court also reviewed the merits of the underlying discovery order, reversed the Court of Appeals, and reinstated both the discovery order and the order imposing sanctions for contempt.

This Court most recently expounded on this procedure in Davis v. Parkview Apartments, 409 S.C. 266, 762 S.E.2d 535 (2014), which was discussed at length at oral argument before the Court of Appeals, and which the Judges believed constricted them in their ability to rule in Appellants' favor. In Davis, the plaintiffs appealed an Order dismissing their claims with prejudice as a sanction following a multifaceted discovery dispute that proceeded nearly two years in the circuit court. The Court certified the case for review pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR. affirmed, finding that the plaintiffs had not complied with the procedure outlined in Whetstone. In result, the Court's rationale may appear to limit the review of an interlocutory discovery order in conjunction with an appealable order granting sanctions. However, Davis actually upheld and restated the Whetstone procedure, which Appellants here followed explicitly.

The Davis opinion notes three reasons supporting its affirmance of the circuit court, all of which distinguish the facts and proper outcome of this matter. First, the Court noted that the plaintiffs "only appealed the order awarding sanctions, . . . the Dismissal Order." Id., 762 S.E.2d at 542-43. In contrast, the Notice of Appeal in the instant case explicitly sought review of the April 6, 2015, June 18, 2019 and August 1, 2019 discovery orders, as well as the October 1, 2019 order striking Appellants' pleadings.<sup>4</sup> In this case, Appellants never stopped challenging the June 18, 2019 order. Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend, which was denied by the August 1, 2019 Order. At that point, Appellants advised the Court that they intended to seek Appellate review of the discovery orders, and even asked the court to find them in contempt, going so far as

---

<sup>4</sup> Appellants sought review of the lower court's April 6, 2015 Order, which denied a motion to quash a third party subpoena on the basis that the financial records sought by the plaintiff below were relevant and material to the case. While Appellants continue to believe that ruling was in error, they were ultimately not aggrieved by that ruling, as the Order did not require the Appellants to do anything. It is incorporated into the issues relating to the October 1, 2019 ruling only to the extent the respondent was the party that failed to abide by the ruling, and therefore it can not be found as a basis for sanctions against Appellants.

citing Davis in the process. Second, the Davis Court found that the plaintiffs had not followed the Whetstone procedure because they “continued on in the litigation” and “continued to accept the circuit court’s formulation of discovery.” Id. at 543. Finally, the Davis Court found that the discovery rulings at issue in that case were “unreviewable on appeal” because the Appellants “only raise[d] general issues with those orders”, making no “specific objections to each item of discovery deemed discoverable by the circuit judge”. Id. at n. 15. In the instant appeal, Appellants objected to the propriety of the individual orders and the items deemed discoverable in great detail, covering an expansive portion of their briefs and being fully argued before the Court. Clearly, none of the reasons underlying the Davis Court’s decision to affirm the sanctions ordered below apply to this case. The procedure restated in the opinion, on the other hand, was followed by the Appellants, allowing this Honorable Court to review the underlying discovery orders.

The procedure adopted in Whetstone is described in Davis and subsequent cases relatively simply: to obtain review of an interlocutory discovery order, a party must refuse to comply with the lower court’s formulation of discovery, and file an appeal from an immediately appealable order resulting from the party’s failure to comply. See Richardson v. Halcyon Real Est. Servs., LLP, No. 2019-000671, 2023 WL 2995102, at \*2 (S.C. Ct. App. Apr. 19, 2023); Whitfield v. Schimpf, No. 2019-001716, 2022 WL 17174886, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Nov. 23, 2022). Est. of King ex rel. King v. Richland Cnty., No. 2008-UP-274, 2008 WL 9841679, at \*2 (S.C. Ct. App. May 21, 2008). It has been referred to by this Court as “well settled” precedent. See Montgomery v. Montgomery, Opinion No. 2019-MO-027, Case No. 2018-001233 (S.C. Sup Ct. May 29, 2019). Whether the appealable order finds a party in contempt or issues sanctions is of no consequence, as either result subjects an order to immediate appeal, allowing the appellate court to review companion issues decided in otherwise interlocutory rulings.

Here, the circuit court issued discovery orders adverse to Appellants, which Appellants believed to be procedurally defective, factually incorrect, beyond the scope of discovery, and outside of the discretion of that court. Appellants refused to comply with certain aspects of those orders, advised the court that they intended to seek appellate review. This is precisely what the procedure outlined in Whetstone and Davis requires, yet Appellants suffered an excessive sanction as a result. This Court is now left to correct the errors of law and fact in both lower courts, and to clarify the procedure for seeking appellate review of trial court discovery orders. If no pre-trial circuit court discovery order is *ever* subject to appellate review, the abuse of discretion standard becomes unfettered discretion of the state trial courts. For both practical and policy reasons, that cannot become South Carolina law.

## **II. The Record Does Not Support Any of the 2019 Discovery Orders and Drastic Rule 37(b)2(C) Sanctions Were Improper**

The record simply does not reflect a history of discovery abuse by Appellants that would warrant the drastic sanctions ordered by Judge Murphy. The discovery disputes began with IWM's first discovery requests, served on October 2, 2012. (APPX. 210-244). The discovery was certainly comprehensive, covering a swath of general matters but also including pointed inquiries to matters that had arisen in the federal court case. Each set of interrogatories included at least seventy and perhaps over one hundred fifty separate inquiries, depending on how one defines a subpart. Therefore, they were patently improper and objectionable under Rule 33 (b)(9), SCRCF. This fact was recognized by both Judge Dickson and the Court of Appeals.

The interrogatories also included financial discovery that would have been extensive for supplemental proceedings and was far beyond the scope of pre-trial discovery. From the bench, Judge Dickson distilled certain requests to their relevant parts, recognizing the burden of the

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