THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 10 2024**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Maite D. Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-001719

Appellate Case No. 2023-001045

Innovative Waste Management  
Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Crest Energy Partners GP, Crest  
Energy Partners LP, Dunhill  
Products LP, Henry Wuertz,

Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Wm. Michael Gruenloh, Esquire  
Gruenloh Law Firm  
67 Moultrie Street, Second Floor  
Charleston, SC 29403  
(843) 577-0027  
Attorney for the Respondent

And

Frederick Jekel, SCBAR# 66491  
930 Richland Street, Suite 300  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 888-7130

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

MR. MARVEL: My client has directed me to pursue an appeal.

THE COURT: Because they have failed to comply with this Court's orders. You have multiple orders awarding sanctions and awarding compliance with the discovery process that have not been complied with. This has been going on for seven years. Judge Dixon's order of 2012, I do recall that motions hearing and motions subsequent to that, because circumstances have changed. As stated in that order, the grammar of what was discoverable in 2015, 2016 has changed. Your client has failed to abide by all of these Court orders – refuses to do so. Now you are asking me to hold them in contempt. So, you are telling me that they are in willful violation of these Court's orders. Is that what you are asking me?

MR. MARVEL: First of all, the record is clear –

THE COURT: The record is clear, sir. Just answer my question. Yes or no, are you asking me to find your client in contempt for being in willful violation of this Court's orders? Is that what you are asking me to do?

MR. MARVEL: I am asking for the Court to find us in contempt, not because we believe that we have violated any prior order, but to the extent that Mr. Gruenloh is requesting that my clients sign the authorizations that Mr. Gruenloh has provided us, to my knowledge, is the only thing that we have not done in compliance with that order.

THE COURT: Well –

MR. MARVEL: Your Honor –

THE COURT: Please let me finish. I didn't interrupt you during your presentation. You have filed nothing to the effect that they couldn't afford the sanctions; that you would not be able to comply without any financial documentation. The documentation has been requested, and you have filed piecemeal responses and nothing to back up what was previously ordered by Judge Goodstein before I even heard the case. So, you have multiple years of willful disobedience of this Court's order, and now you are asking me to find you in contempt, so that basically you can appeal and put this case off three or four more years. That is basically what you are asking me to do; is that correct?

MR. MARVEL: We do intend to appeal the Court's order. That is correct, Your Honor. I don't believe that the failure to pay the attorney's fees is willful.

THE COURT: But you didn't file anything that you couldn't pay. There has been nothing filed with Court, that I am aware of, that once that order was issued, you filed any financial statement saying, "We just can't pay it." You just didn't do it.

MR. MARVEL: That is correct, Your Honor. We didn't file anything.

THE COURT: So multiple Court orders. You just didn't do it. Multiple Court orders you just didn't do it. So, counsel, anything else you would like the Court to consider at this juncture?

MR. MARVEL: No, Your Honor. I guess my only point on that issue is that we wanted to produce everything that we could and that we felt was available to produce.

THE COURT: Sir, wanting to do something and then backing it up is a whole different ballgame from just appearing in court and saying, "I will do it one of these days." You are wanting to do it and not providing responses as to why you can't do it or your inability to do it is a whole different ballgame, sir. So, this constant manipulation of the process really is, quite frankly, not reasonably optimistic that you will ever comply with this Court's orders (ROA 197-200).

The Court granted Respondent's Motion for Sanctions on October 1, 2019 and stated: "Defendants have engaged in a deliberate pattern of discovery abuse and willfully failed to follow this Court's August 1, 2019 Order. For these reasons, as set out in detail below, the Court grants

Respondent’s Motion for Sanctions pursuant to Rule 37 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and hereby strikes all pleadings of the Wuertz Appellants” (ROA 46-47).

The Court of Appeals heard oral arguments on December 5, 2022 and on March 29, 2023 it unanimously confirmed the circuit court’s October 1<sup>st</sup>, 2019 Order finding that:

1. Appellants have waived appellate review of all discovery orders prior to the October 1, 2019 order granting sanctions;
2. Even if the June 18 and August 1 orders were preserved for appeal, neither is an abuse of discretion and both are supported by the record.
3. The October 1st 2019 Order was not an abuse of discretion and is supported by the record.

*Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*1, \*5. These findings thoroughly address Appellants’ current arguments to this Court.

Appellants filed a motion for rehearing on May 8, 2023 which was denied by the Court of Appeals on June 5, 2023. The Petition for Certiorari was filed on August 1, 2023 addressing the exact same points that were argued in the appeal and in the motion for rehearing. On May 1, 2024 this Court granted certiorari and on June 12, 2024 Appellant served its Brief upon Respondents.

### LAW AND ARGUMENTS

- I. The Court of Appeals properly interpreted this Court’s holding in *Davis v. Parkview* correctly finding that the only order preserved for appeal by Appellants was the October 1, 2019 order.**

The Court of Appeals properly held that “Appellants have waived appellate review of all discovery orders prior to the October 1, 2019 order granting sanctions, and therefore, the October 1, 2019 order is the only order properly before us on appeal. *Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*4; See also *Parkview*, 409 S.C. at 280-81 (finding plaintiffs who were sanctioned for discovery abuse

had waived review of the underlying discovery orders “by providing incomplete responses and causing delay through other tactics while continu[ing] to accept the circuit court's formulation of discovery’ instead of preserving their objections to the prior discovery orders by immediately refusing to comply with the prior orders, suffering contempt, and appealing from the contempt finding; accordingly, the prior discovery orders were the law of the case and the only order properly on appeal was the order granting sanctions.”).

Petitioner’s first argument is that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that only the October 1, 2019 Order of the circuit court was properly preserved for appeal. Specifically, Appellant argues that the June 18, 2019 and August 1, 2019 orders which preceded the October 1, 2019 order were interlocutory orders, that he followed the procedure set out in *Ex parte Whetstone* and so the orders are preserved for appeal. *Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. 580, 347 S.E.2d 881, 882 (1986).

However, as the record clearly reflects, Appellants did not follow the procedure laid out in *Whetstone*. Appellants had two choices when the June 18th and August 1st orders were entered: (1) refuse to comply, request contempt and challenge the orders on appeal, or (2) comply with the order and waive their right to appeal the orders later. The Court of Appeals took note of the following facts:

On June 18, 2019, and then again, on August 1, 2019, the circuit court ordered Appellants to produce authorizations for the release of the banking and accounting records, as well as monetary sanctions in the amount of \$1,950.00. The circuit court noted Appellants did not produce the authorizations, pay \$1,950.00, or "advise [IWM] or the Court of its inability to pay the award of attorney's fees at any point prior to [the hearing on the motion for sanctions]. The court found that, “from a review of the totality of the record," Appellants' "conduct is in bad faith, is willfully disobedient to the orders of the Court, and demonstrates a gross indifference to [Appellant’s] rights seeking to delay a case on the eve of trial." The circuit court noted that, instead of timely asserting that Appellants did not believe updated records from the bank and accountant were discoverable, Appellants chose "to make false representations to opposing counsel" and "feign compliance with the order of the Court." *Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*3.

Rather than challenging the rulings when they were made, Appellants chose to accept the rulings, did not follow the procedure set out in *Whetstone* and *Parkview* and waived their right to challenge the orders on appeal. The following language from *Parkview* is analogous to the current facts and specifically addresses Appellants contentions here: “Appellants did not follow that [being held in contempt] route here. Rather, they continued along in the litigation, attempting to divert the implementation of the court’s rulings by providing incomplete responses and causing delay through other tactics while they decided whether or not to surrender to the possibility of being held in contempt of court. However, during this time, Appellants continued to accept the circuit court’s formulation of discovery. Right or wrong, these decisions form the law of the case, and Appellants are bound by them now.” *Parkview*, 726 S.E.2d at 281.

The record reflects that Appellants acted just as the plaintiff did in *Parkview*. Appellants made repeated assurances that they would provide the ordered discovery and comply with the August 1, 2019 Order, made partial responses and employed delay tactics (ROA 684-703). It was only after repeated empty assurances from Appellants that they were complying with the August 1, 2019 order that Respondent filed their Motion for Sanctions on September 13, 2019 (ROA 672-683). Appellants filed no response to that motion (ROA 764-765). On October 1, 2019, the trial court granted Respondent’s Motion for Sanctions and struck Appellants’ pleadings (ROA 46-57).

*Parkview* clearly illustrates that if Appellants fail to appeal the discovery orders, which in a later order for sanctions, make up the grounds for the sanction, the appellate court may only review whether the trial court has abused its discretion in granting the sanction. Any issues pertaining to the underlying discovery orders have been waived. *Parkview*, 726 S.E.2d at 281. Appellants did not request to be held in contempt or appeal any of these prior orders at the time that they were entered. Instead, Appellants gave half answers, employed delay tactics and provided assurances

that it would eventually comply with the orders. As such, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that, under *Parkview*, the prior orders were not subject to this appeal. *Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*4.

Appellant states in its brief: “Here the Circuit Court issued discovery orders adverse to Appellants believed to be procedurally defective ... and outside the discretion of that court. Appellants refused to comply with certain aspects of those orders, [sic] advised the court that they intended to seek appellate review.” Appellants’ Br. 15. To be clear, there is no record of Appellants’ Counsel notifying the court or counsel that he and/or his client would not be complying with these two orders upon entry of the orders and that his client should, therefore, be held in contempt. It did not occur. Instead, Appellants feigned compliance, delayed production and engaged in general delay tactics.

Accordingly, Respondents’ conduct bears no relation to that of the moving party in *Whetstone*. There was no finding in *Whetstone* that the moving party had deliberately gamed the court and/or the other party on the eve of trial in order to seek some advantage. Here, the trial court found that Appellants misconduct was willful and for the purpose of delay. That key finding made by the trial court and upheld by the Court of Appeals differentiates Appellants’ conduct from the moving party in *Whetstone*. Instead, Appellants conduct was almost identical to the conduct in *Parkview*.

Appellants argue that the procedure set out in *Whetstone/Parkview* is evolving and that there is recent precedent that somehow modifies those holdings. Respondent can find no evidence of that and the recent cases cited by Appellants are not on point. There does not appear to be any new or evolving law which, as Appellants suggest, changes the well settled principles set out in *Whetstone* and *Parkview*. Orders which are not appealed are still the law of the case and therefore

are not proper for review before this Court. *Shirley's Iron Works. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). (An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance and reliance.); *See also, Johnson v. S.C. Nat'l Bank*, 285 S.C. 80, 82, 328 S.E.2d 75, 76 (1985); *Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Perry*, 201 S.E.2d 245 (1973).

It is still clear that if a party complies (or feigns compliance) with an order, they lose the ability to later challenge that order. "An order directing a party to participate in discovery is interlocutory and not directly appealable ... Instead of appealing immediately, a non-party has two alternatives. He may either comply with the discovery order and waive any right to challenge it on appeal or refuse to comply with the order and appeal after he is held in contempt for his failure to comply." *Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. at 580.

## **II. The Court of Appeals Reviewed the June 18th and August 1st Orders Irrespective of the Fact that they were not Preserved for Appeal and Found there was no Abuse of Discretion.**

The majority of Appellants' brief is spent challenging the validity of the June 12, and August 1 orders but, as noted above, the Court of Appeals already reviewed both of these prior orders notwithstanding it's finding that Appellants had waived appellate review of the orders. The Court of Appeals correctly found that "[r]egardless, even if the June 18/August 1, 2019 orders were properly before us on appeal, we find the circuit court did not abuse its discretion or exceed its authority in ordering Appellants to execute authorizations for the release of their own banking and accounting records." *Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*4; *See also Hollman v. Woolfson*, 384 S.C. 571, 577, 683 S.E.2d 495, 498 (2009) ("A trial judge's rulings on discovery matters will not be disturbed by an appellate court absent a clear abuse of discretion.").

The Court of Appeals properly found that the banking and accounting documents were within the legal control of Petitioner and that the June 18/August 1, 2019 orders did not improperly

overrule another circuit court's order in the same case: “Further, although the banking and accounting documents were in the custody of the bank and accountant, they were Appellants' documents, and, therefore, within the legal control of Appellants.” *Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*4; See also Rule 34(a), SCRPC (“Any party may serve on any other party a request (1) to produce . . . any designated documents, or electronically stored information . . . within the scope of Rule 26(b) and which are in the possession, custody or control of the party upon whom the request is served . . . .”); See also *Barnette v. Adams Bros. Logging.*, 355 S.C. 588, 595, 586 S.E.2d 572, 576 (2003) (affirming an order granting sanctions for a party's failure to comply with a discovery order compelling execution of an authorization for the release of social security records); Wright and Miller, § 2210 Possession, Custody, or Control, 8B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2210 (3d ed.2022) (gathering cases discussing the issue of compelling authorizations for release of documents within a party's "control").

The Court of Appeals also addressed Appellants’ contention that the prior orders were somehow inconsistent with prior orders of the court: “Finally, due to the evolving discovery posture of the case, we find the June 18/August 1, 2019 orders did not improperly overrule another circuit court's order in the same case.” *Innovative*, 2023 WL 2671712 at \*4; See also *Sellers v. Nicholls*, 432 S.C. 101, 114, 851 S.E.2d 54, 60 (Ct. App. 2020) (“[A]n interlocutory order [that] merely decides some point or matter essential to the progress of the cause, collateral to the issues in the case, is not binding as the law of the case, and may be reconsidered . . . by the court before entering a final order on the merits.”(quoting *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013))).

The Court of Appeals thorough review and confirmation of the prior orders directly addressed the arguments made by Appellant regarding the alleged deficiencies in such orders.

Accordingly, even if Appellants are correct that appellate review of the prior orders had not been waived under *Parkview*, it does not matter. The prior orders are supported by the record, are not an abuse of discretion and the trial court's discretion in this matter should not be disturbed.

### **III. The Court of Appeals Correctly Found that the Trial Court was within its Discretion to Strike Petitioner's Answers and Counterclaims under Rule 37(b), SCRC.P.**

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